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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

COMMISSION, CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:25-cv-1890
Plaintiff,
COMPLAINT
V. JURY TRIAL DEMAND

TARGET MARKET ENTERPRISES, INC.
d/b/a LITTLE CAESARS PIZZA,

Defendant.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

The United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) brings this
action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, and Title I of the Civil Rights
Act of 1991 to correct unlawful employment practices on the basis of race and color (Black) and
to provide appropriate relief to Charging Party Brethny Espinosa and a class of similarly
aggrieved Black employees who were adversely affected by such practices. The EEOC alleges
that Defendant Target Market Enterprises, Inc. d/b/a Little Caesars Pizza (Defendant): (1)
subjected Espinosa and a class of similarly aggrieved employees to unlawful harassment and a
hostile work environment because of their race and color (Black); and (2) unlawfully retaliated
against one similarly aggrieved Black employee for complaining about or objecting to the
harassment, which included terminating the employee. Plaintiff seeks monetary relief for
Espinosa and similarly aggrieved employees, including pecuniary damages, non-pecuniary

compensatory and punitive damages, backpay for the terminated employee, and injunctive relief.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. Jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 451, 1331, 1337,
1343 and 1345. This action is authorized and instituted pursuant to Sections 706(f)(1) and (3) of
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e-5(f)(1) and (3) (Title
VII), and Section 102 of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. § 1981a.

2. The employment practices alleged to be unlawful were committed within the
jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff EEOC is the agency of the United States of America charged with the
administration, interpretation and enforcement of Title VII, and is expressly authorized to bring
this action by Sections 706(f)(1) and (3) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e-5(f)(1) and 3, and
Section 102 of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. Section 1981a.

4. At all relevant times, Defendant has been a corporation continuously doing
business in the State of Washington and continuously employing at least fifteen (15) employees.

5. At all relevant times, Defendant has continuously been an employer engaged in an
industry affecting commerce within the meaning of Sections 701(b), (g) and (h) of Title VII, 42
U.S.C. §§ 2000e-(b), (g) and (h).

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES

6. More than thirty (30) days prior to the institution of this lawsuit, Charging Party
Brethny Espinosa filed EEOC Charge No. 551-2025-00074 alleging violations of Title VII by
Defendant.

7. On May 29, 2025, the Commission issued a Letter of Determination for Brethny
Espinosa’s charge finding reasonable cause to believe that Defendant had violated Title VII,
and invited Defendant to join with the Commission in informal methods of conciliation to
endeavor to eliminate the unlawful employment practices and to provide appropriate relief to

Espinosa and a class of similarly aggrieved Black employees.
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8. The Commission engaged in communications with Defendant to provide
Defendant the opportunity to remedy the discriminatory practices described in the Letter of
Determination.

9. The EEOC was unable to secure from Defendant a conciliation agreement
acceptable to the EEOC.

10. On July 22, 2025, the Commission issued to Defendant a Notice of Failure of
Conciliation advising Defendant that the Commission was unable to secure from Defendant a

conciliation agreement acceptable to the Commission.

11.  All conditions precedent to the institution of this lawsuit have been fulfilled.
STATEMENT OF CLAIMS
12.  Defendant owned and operated a restaurant in Mount Vernon, Washington as of

September 1, 2022 that was managed: (a) directly by a General Manager, who had the authority
to hire and fire any employee at the restaurant; and (b) indirectly by a Regional Manager who
supervised the General Manager at each of Defendant’s three restaurants in Mount Vernon,
Sedro Wooley and Bellingham.

13.  As of September 1, 2022, Defendant employed Shift Leads at the Mount Vernon
restaurant who would manage the restaurant after the General Manager left for the day until
closing, who had the authority to direct the work of any crew member and who could send any
crew member home before completing his/her scheduled shift.

14.  Defendant’s managers were aware that an employee identified by the initials J.G.
(race, non-Black) used the N-Word at Defendant’s Mount Vernon restaurant in September 2022,
but failed to discipline him or take any corrective action to stop his use of the racial slur.

15. Since at least 2024, Defendant engaged in unlawful employment practices at its
restaurant in Mount Vernon, Washington, in violation of Sections 703(a) and 704(a) of Title VII,
42 U.S.C. § §2000e-2(a) and 2000e-3(a), by: (a) subjecting Espinosa and a class of similarly

aggrieved Black employees to a hostile work environment based on race and color; and (b)
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retaliating against one Black employee for complaining about the racially hostile work
environment.

16.  Defendant’s General Manager (race, White) was aware that J.G. used the N-Word
twice at Defendant’s Mount Vernon restaurant in March 2024 loud enough to be heard by
customers, and she issued him a written warning for using the slur.

17.  Defendant’s General Manager did not inform the Regional Manager that she had
issued a written warning to J.G. for using the N-Word at Defendant’s Mount Vernon restaurant
in March 2024.

18.  Defendant’s General Manager promoted J.G. to be Shift Lead in August 2024,
knowing that he would be left in charge of the restaurant after she left for the day.

19. Charging Party Brethny Espinosa is Black.

20. Espinosa worked as a crew member at Defendant’s Mount Vernon restaurant as of
August 13, 2024, making and preparing pizza dough and cleaning up.

21.  Espinosa was supervised by the General Manager at Defendant’s Mount Vernon
restaurant, and when that individual left for the day, the Shift Lead.

22.  Defendant employed two other Black crew members at the Mount Vernon
restaurant as of August 13, 2024.

23. Shift Lead J.G. and crew member A.G. (race, non-Black) subjected Espinosa and
two Black employees to frequent, offensive, and unwelcome race-based conduct including but
not limited to calling or referring to them as: (a) the N-Word; (b) slaves; (c) blacky; (d) darky;
and (e) monkey.

24. Shift Lead J.G. made the two Black class members do the most menial tasks like
washing dishes their entire shift.

25. One coworker (race, White) was so offended by Shift Lead J.G.’s use of racial
slurs directed at and about Espinosa and the two other Black employees at the Mount Vernon

restaurant that she complained to the General Manager in or about August 2024.
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26. One Black class member complained to Shift Lead J.G, and at least one other
Shift Lead, in or about September 2024 that A.G. had called him the N-Word several times, and
that he was offended, but J.G. took no action to stop A.G.

27. The General Manager promoted A.G. to be a Shift Lead at the Mount Vernon
restaurant in or about September 2024.

28.  When Shift Lead J.G. continued to use racial slurs after the White coworker
complained to the General Manager, the same coworker complained again to the General
Manager who responded that she would just need to deal with it since she wants to work more
hours.

29.  Espinosa complained to the General Manager about Shift Lead J.G.’s racist
comments to her and the two other Black employees at the Mount Vernon restaurant on
September 27, 2024.

30.  When the General Manager informed Shift Lead J.G. on or about September 27,
2024 that a coworker had accused him of making racist comments, J.G. asked the General
Manager if the coworker had also complained about Shift Lead A.G. because A.G. used the same
racial terms.

31.  When the General Manager did not take any action to investigate or stop the racist
comments by Shift Lead J.G. or A.G. to Espinosa and the two other Black employees, Espinosa
complained to the Regional Manager about the racist comments on September 30, 2024.

32. The Regional Manager investigated Espinosa’s complaint about the racist
comments by Shift Lead J.G. to her and the two other Black employees on September 30, 2024,
and fired J.G. that same day.

33.  One Black class member continued to endure racist slurs from A.G. at the Mount

Vernon restaurant in October 2024 despite asking him to stop and after complaining to two other

Shift Leaders.
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34.  Frustrated by Defendant’s failure to investigate or take any steps to stop A.G.’s
harassment, the Black class member wrote a post-it note “[A.G.] hates Black people” and placed
it in a private area of the Mount Vernon restaurant accessible only to employees.

35.  Defendant issued the Black class member a written warning dated October 20,
2024 because “inappropriate words were made on a sticky note,” but then decided to terminate
him effective October 19, 2024, stating, “had to fire him due to inappropriate language and
sticky note was left on desk with [iJnformation.”

36. The effect of Defendant’s practices complained of in Paragraphs 14-35 above has
been to deprive Espinosa and two similarly aggrieved Black employees of equal employment
opportunities and otherwise adversely affect their status as employees.

37. The unlawful employment practices complained of in Paragraphs 14-35 above
were intentional.

38. The unlawful employment practices complained of in Paragraphs 14-35 above
were done with malice or with reckless indifference to the federally protected rights of Espinosa
and two similarly aggrieved Black employees.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, the EEOC respectfully requests that this Court:

A. Grant a permanent injunction enjoining Defendant, its officers, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, successors, and all persons in active concert or participation with them,
from creating, failing to prevent, and failing to promptly correct an offensive, abusive,
intimidating and hostile work environment on the basis of race and color (Black), and engaging
in any other employment practice that discriminates on the basis of race and color.

B. Grant a permanent injunction enjoining Defendant, its officers, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, successors, and all persons in active concert or participation with them,
from engaging in any employment practice which retaliates against an employee for engaging in

protected EEO activity.
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C. Order Defendant to institute and carry out policies, practices, and programs which
provide equal employment opportunities for all employees, and which eradicate the effects of its
past and present unlawful employment practices.

D. Order Defendant to make whole one Black class member who Defendant
terminated effective October 19, 2024 by providing appropriate back pay with interest, in
amounts to be determined at trial, and other affirmative relief necessary to eradicate the effects of
its unlawful employment practices described in Paragraphs 14-35 above.

E. Order Defendant to make whole Espinosa and two similarly aggrieved Black
employees by providing compensation for past and future non-pecuniary losses resulting from
the unlawful practices complained of in Paragraphs 14-35 above, including without limitation
emotional pain, suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life, in amounts to be determined at trial.

F. Order Defendant to make whole Espinosa and two similarly aggrieved Black
employees by providing compensation for past and future pecuniary losses resulting from the
unlawful employment practices described in Paragraphs 14-35 above, including past and future
out-of-pocket expenses, in amounts to be determined at trial.

G. Order Defendant to pay Espinosa and two similarly aggrieved Black employees
punitive damages for its malicious and reckless conduct described in Paragraphs 14-35 above, in

amounts to be determined at trial.

H. Grant such further relief as the Court deems necessary and proper in the public
interest.
L Award the EEOC its costs of this action.
JURY TRIAL DEMAND

The EEOC requests a jury trial on all questions of fact raised by its Complaint.

/!
/!
/!
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DATED this 30th day of September, 2025.

ROBERTA L. STEELE ANDREW RODGERS

Regional Attorney Acting General Counsel
DAMIEN A. LEE CHRISTOPHER LAGE
Assistant Regional Attorney Deputy General Counsel

GWENDOLYN YOUNG REAMS
Associate General Counsel

Office of the General Counsel
131 "M" Street NE
Washington, D.C. 20507

BY: /s/ Roberta L. Steele

ROBERTA L. STEELE

Regional Attorney

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
COMMISSION

Seattle District Office

909 First Avenue, Suite 400

Seattle, WA 98104-1061

Telephone (206) 576-3038

Facsimile (206) 220-6911

BY: /s/ Damien Lee

DAMIEN A. LEE

Assistant Regional Attorney

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
COMMISSION

Seattle District Office

909 First Avenue, Suite 400

Seattle, WA 98104-1061

Telephone (206) 576-3038

Facsimile (206) 220-6911

Attorneys for Plaintiff EEOC
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Western District of Washington

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No. 2:25-cv-1890

Target Market Enterprises, Inc. d/b/a Little Caesars

R N e N N W e

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Target Market Enterprises, Inc. d/b/a Little Caesars
c/o Ray Caldwell
4071 Hannegan Rd., Ste T
Bellingham, WA 98226-7623

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Roberta L. Steele, Regional Attorney

Damien A. Lee, Assistant Regional Attorney
Seattle Field Office

909 First Avenue, Suite 400

Seattle, WA 98104-1061

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 2:25-cv-1890

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

(3 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of § 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:





